ADENOVIRUS VECTORS DELETED FOR GENES ESSENTIAL FOR VIRAL DNA REPLICATION

Jerome Schaack

University of Colorado at Denver and Health Sciences Center, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center at Fitzsimons, Microbiology Dept., Mail Stop 8333 P.O. Box 6511, Aurora, CO 80045

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Biology of Ad5

3.1. Natural Ad5 infections

- 4. Ad vectors
 - 4.1. First-generation vectors
 - 4.2. Second-generation vectors
 - 4.3. Third-generation vectors
- 5. Ad DNA replication
 - 5.1. Mechanism of adenovirus DNA replication
 - 5.2. Genetics of Ad replication
- 6. Non-replicative functions of E2 proteins
 - 6.1.Non-replicative functions of DBP
 - 6.2. pTP function outside of priming replication
- 7. Construction of cell lines to complement growth of Ad vectors deleted for the E2 genes
 - 7.1. Considerations for the development of cell lines that complement E2 deletion mutant vector growth
 - 7.2. Screening for cell lines that express E2 gene products
 - 7.3. Efficiency of complementation
- 8. Comparison of first- and second-generation Ad vectors as gene therapy agents
 - 8.1. Ad vectors defective in E2A
 - 8.2.Inflammation induced by Ad vectors
- 9. Use of Ad vectors
 - 9.1. Ad vectors for gene therapy
 - 9.2. Use of Ad transducing vectors for expression studies
- 10. Summary
- 11. References

1. ABSTRACT

Adenovirus (Ad) gene therapy vectors made replication defective by deletion of the E1 region (firstgeneration vectors) induce high-level inflammation that leads to loss of both transduced gene expression and transduced cells. First-generation vectors were initially considered to be incapable of viral DNA replication, but it is necessary to delete one or more of the genes, all in the E2 transcription unit, that encode proteins essential for Ad DNA replication to completely eliminate viral DNA replication. Vectors deleted for one or more of the E2 genes (second-generation vectors) induce reduced levels of inflammation in certain animal models and offer promise for understanding the mechanisms by which adenovirus vectors induce inflammation and how inflammation can be inhibited. While first-generation vectors dominated the initial human gene therapy trials using adenovirus vectors, second-generation vectors may offer greater promise and greater safety for clinical studies.

2. INTRODUCTION

Adenovirus (Ad) vectors, most of which are derived from Ad serotype 5 (Ad5), have become important

transducing tools for studies *in vitro* and *in vivo* and have been used in a large number of gene therapy trials (http://www4.od.nih.gov/oba/rac/clinicaltrial.htm). While promising, first-generation Ad vectors suffer from the induction of strong innate inflammatory and adaptive immune responses that limit their usefulness (1-4). Knowledge of the host innate response to Ad vectors is progressing rapidly and adaptive immune responses to Ad vectors have been studied in detail. However, the mechanisms by which Ad vectors induce innate inflammatory processes, which exert a strong negative effect on first-generation vectors and a lesser, but still important, effect on helper-dependent vectors, are not well understood.

Ad vectors have been tested *in vivo* in a number of models, including human, chimpanzee, various monkeys, rats, cotton rats, and mice (including a number of different mouse strains). The substantial majority of studies have been undertaken in mice. A large number of organs have been targeted including liver, lung, skeletal muscle, cardiac muscle, and brain, with the substantial majority of assays targeting liver. The use of many animal and organ models make it difficult to compare studies. However, general comparisons can be made. In designing and using Ad vectors, it is helpful to consider the biology of Ad in natural infections of humans.

3. BIOLOGY OF AD5

3.1. Natural Ad5 infections

Ad5 infections (reviewed in 5, 6) are common in childhood. The normal route of entry into the body is through infection of the pharyngeal epithelium. In young children, approximately 30-50% of infections are symptomatic, with sore throat and fever the most common symptoms. After infectious virus is produced in the pharyngeal epithelium, virus seeds the small intestine through a mechanism that is not clear. In the small intestine, the infection may be persistent, with fecal shedding of virus lasting days to more than one year. Infections of the small intestine appear to be asymptomatic. In severely immunocompromised patients, Ad5 infection can become systemic, and numerous tissues, including liver and lungs, may be infected (reviewed in 7-10). Systemic infections cause a high level of mortality.

Ad5 infection of liver cells *in vitro* and, in immunocompromised patients *in vivo*, is efficient. The efficiency of liver infection under appropriate conditions raises the question of why Ad5 does not normally infect the liver during the viremic phase of natural infections, an important point for Ad gene therapy vectors because transduction of mouse liver has been the most popular model for study.

The relatively low frequency of symptomatic infections of the pharyngeal epithelium and the apparent absence of symptoms during persistent intestinal infections by Ad5 suggest that the virus is not necessarily inflammatory in immunocompetent hosts.

4. AD VECTORS

4.1. First-generation vectors

Ad vectors are generally classed in three groups in a manner dependent on what Ad genes are deleted in the development of the vector. Most Ad vectors in use are derived from virus made replication-defective by deletion of the E1 region (first-generation vectors). The E1 region encodes E1A and E1B proteins, which have a variety of functions in the viral life cycle and are the primary transforming proteins of the virus (reviewed in 11-13). Deletion of the E1 region was initially thought to make the virus incapable of replicating its DNA. However, the effects of deletion of either E1A or E1B on viral replication in vitro can be overcome by infecting with a high multiplicity of virus (14) raising the possibility that, even at low multiplicities, viral DNA replication could occur in some cell types. More recently, it has been demonstrated that deletion of both E1A and E1B leads to a severe reduction in viral DNA replication in vitro that can also be overcome when cells are infected at high multiplicity (15, 16).

The question of whether Ad vector DNA replication occurs *in vivo* is important for understanding the

mechanism(s) by which first- and second-generation Ad vectors differ in their inflammatory potential. However, it is a very difficult question to address, since low levels of replication will be obscured by the rapid loss of viral DNA that occurs after injection. The best evidence on this topic comes from Nelson and Kay, who used Ad vectors that had been grown in a cell line that methylates DNA at *XhoI* sites (17). Methylation at XhoI sites inhibits cleavage by XhoI. Replication of Ad DNA in vivo does not lead to methylation, so, assuming that complete methylation occurs during virus production, two rounds of replication will lead to production of unmethylated daughter molecules, restoring susceptibility to XhoI cleavage. After injection in a variety of mouse strains, viral DNA was not cleavable by *XhoI*, raising the possibility that viral DNA replication did not occur. As noted by the authors, a low level of viral DNA replication would have been difficult to detect. For example, a low level of replication in a small number of cells that limit the inflammatory reaction could occur and initiate an inflammatory reaction.

Most first-generation vectors are also deleted for the E3 region. E3 is not required for growth in tissue culture and its deletion provides additional room for insertion of foreign genes. E3 encodes a variety of proteins that act to inhibit innate and adaptive immune responses to the virus during productive infections (reviewed in 18-20). While the anti-inflammatory and immune inhibitory effects of E3 are of clear importance for the growth of the wildtype virus, the roles of E3 in protecting Ad vectortransduced cells from innate and adaptive immune responses are less clear. E3, or certain E3 proteins, have been found to be protective in certa*in situ*ations (21-23) but not in others (24, 25).

First-generation vectors are typically constructed and grown in HEK 293 cells (26), which express the E1 genes of Ad5 and complement E1-deleted vectors for high titer growth. These vectors are relatively easy to construct using recombination in a plasmid, a system originally developed *S. cerevisiae* (27) and then in *E. coli* (28-30). The recombinant vector chromosome is removed from the plasmid by restriction digestion and used to transfect complementing cells to generate virus. First-generation vectors grow to high titers and are relatively easy to purify.

4.2. Second-generation vectors

The second group of vectors, deleted for E4 or made replication incompetent by deletion of one or more of the E2 genes, is called second-generation vectors. Secondgeneration vectors require helper function, typically provided by a cell line that stably expresses the product(s) of the deleted Ad gene(s) for complementation of vector production and growth. Construction and screening of complementing cell lines can be time consuming. However, once an efficient complementing cell line is isolated, the second-generation vector can be prepared as for first-generation vectors using plasmid recombination in *E. coli* followed by transfection of complementing cells. Second-generation vectors typically grow to titers nearly as high as those of first-generation vectors, and purification of the two types of vector is quite similar. Second-generation



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the Ad early region transcription units. The Ad chromosome is represented by a thick horizontal line. Transcription units are indicated by arrows, with genes transcribed in the rightward direction above and in the leftward direction below the Ad chromosome. The splicing patterns of the E2 mRNAs are indicated below, with introns indicated by dashed lines. E2A expression is directed by two promoters, one active primarily during the early phase and one primarily active during the late phase of productive infection.

vectors induce reduced levels of inflammation relative to firstgeneration vectors in at least some circumstances and offer greater promise both as gene therapy agents and for understanding the mechanism(s) by which Ad vectors induce and inhibit inflammation. However, as discussed below, the greater potential of second-generation vectors has not led to their use in gene therapy trials.

4.3. Third-generation vectors

The third group of Ad vectors is deleted for all Ad genes and is variously called helper dependent, high capacity, gutless, or gutted. Growth of helper-dependent vectors typically requires a helper cell line, such as HEK 293, and a coinfecting helper virus to provide all of the packaging proteins and functions necessary for virus formation (31, 32). The coinfecting helper virus has a chromosome of different length such that the density of the helper and vector virus particles differ, permitting the vector to be purified using CsCl density gradient centrifugation. In addition, the helper virus usually has recombinase target sites flanking the cis-acting packaging element. The helper cell line expresses a recombinase that recognizes the target sites, and removes the cis-acting packaging element from the great majority of the helper virus chromosomes, thus increasing the ratio of vector:helper virus (32). Systems in which a secondgeneration, replication-incompetent helper virus is used are particularly promising for the production of helper-dependent vectors (33, 34). Helper-dependent vectors are more difficult to grow and purify than first- and second-generation Ad vectors. However, when efficiently purified from the helper virus, these vectors are considerably less inflammatory than are first-generation vectors, although they are inflammatory (35), and can induce severe complications, including death, when used at high multiplicity (36).

5. AD DNA REPLICATION

5.1. Mechanism of adenovirus DNA replication

Adenovirus DNA replication has been the subject of recent reviews (37, 38) and only a brief overview

relevant to construction and use of vectors deleted for one or more of the genes essential for replication will be presented here.

The adenovirus chromosome is linear in the virion and does not form a circular intermediate at any time in the replicative cycle. The absence of a circular intermediate imposes specific constraints on the mechanism of DNA replication, including the requirement for the use of a priming mechanism that does not utilize RNA.

Inverted terminal repeats (ITRs) of 103 bp lie at the ends of the Ad5 chromosome and act as origins of replication. The 5' end of each strand in the infectious virion is covalently bound to a virally-encoded protein, called terminal protein (TP). TP is synthesized in a precursor form, preterminal protein (pTP), that acts as a primer for viral DNA replication. pTP is proteolytically processed to TP by the adenovirus encoded protease during maturation of virions. During the early phase of infection, newly synthesized pTP forms a high-affinity complex with newly synthesized adenovirus DNA polymerase (DNA pol) in the cytoplasm. The complex then translocates to the nucleus.

The pTP/DNA pol complex binds to the ITR through association of pTP with a highly conserved 11 bp sequence located at the 5' end of the ITR. This binding is facilitated by TP or pTP covalently associated TP with the 5'-most base in the ITR and interaction with host factors NF-1 and Oct-1. In the initiation complex, pTP is covalently bound to a dCMP residue, in a reaction presumably mediated by DNA pol, to a conserved Ser residue. This reaction appears to be completely conserved, as all adenoviruses examined to date share dCMP as the 5'most nucleotide. Replication initiation also requires DBP, which appears to act through destabilization of the double helix to permit formation of the initiation complex. Because of the use of a protein-priming mechanism, one complete round of DNA synthesis leads to the formation of one double-stranded and one single-stranded Ad chromosome. DBP is synthesized in large amounts and binds to the displaced single stranded DNA. The singlestranded DNA may act as template for second strand synthesis through a mechanism involving hybridization of the ITRs. Alternatively, DBP could catalyze formation of double-stranded chromosomes from single strands of opposite polarity.

5.2. Genetics of Ad replication

The Ad-encoded proteins required for replication of Ad DNA are all encoded by the E2 region (Figure 1). DBP is encoded by the E2A region, with coding sequence located between 66.8 and 62.3 map units. pTP and DNA pol are encoded by the E2B region. The first three amino acids are common between the two proteins and are encoded by the 39.2-39.7 map unit exon. The main bodies of the coding regions lie between 29.4 and 23.8 map units for pTP and between 24.4 and 14.4 map units for DNA pol. Transcription of the E2 region is directed by two promoters, one primarily active during the early phase of expression that directs expression of all three E2 genes, and one that is primarily active during the late phase and directs expression of DBP. E2 transcripts are differentially spliced and polyadenylated to yield the mRNAs encoding the three gene products. DBP is made in greatest abundance of the E2 proteins and is the major early Ad antigen in productive infections *in vitro*. pTP and DNA pol are synthesized in much smaller amounts.

Viruses temperature sensitive (ts) for specific functions offer powerful tools for studies of gene function as well as for screening of cell lines that stably express the wild-type gene. Temperature-sensitive mutations in the DBP and DNA pol genes were discovered in random screens of mutagenized Ad (39, 40). The widely used Ad5*ts*125 (DBP mutant) and Ad5*ts*149 (DNA pol mutant) exhibit tight temperature-sensitive behavior, with little Ad DNA replication at the non-permissive temperature of 39°C but efficient replication at the permissive temperature of 32°C. In contrast, Ad mutants ts for pTP function were not discovered in the random screens. However, ts pTP mutant viruses were constructed after two and four amino acid insertion mutagenesis (41-44).

One important consequence of the mechanism of replication is that DBP, pTP, and DNA pol are all essential for Ad DNA replication. A second important consequence arises from the fact that all of the adenovirus early region promoters are active in the absence of expression of the E1A transcriptional transactivator, albeit at reduced levels: no other adenovirus gene products are essential for Ad DNA replication (45-47). In a series of elegant experiments involving infection of HeLa cells with E1A and E1B deletion mutants, Shenk et al. demonstrated that highmultiplicity infections with viruses encoding either, but not both, the E1A or E1B genes led to efficient viral replication and formation of infectious virions that approached levels exhibited by the phenotypically wild-type virus (14). This work was not well known, and it was generally believed that deletion of the E1 region would make adenovirus incapable of replicating. More recently, the ability of viruses deleted for both the E1A and E1B genes to undergo viral DNA replication after high multiplicity infection of human tissue culture cell lines in vitro has been demonstrated (15, 16, 48).

6. NON-REPLICATIVE E2 PROTEIN FUNCTIONS

DBP and pTP have both been shown to have functions that are not directly involved in the mechanism of Ad DNA replication in addition to their direct roles in Ad DNA replication. These functions have been determined both through examination of the behavior of the isolated proteins in transfection assays and through examination of the effects of viral mutations on the infectious cycle. Examination of the literature did not indicate that Ad DNA pol has functions outside of replication of Ad DNA. It remains a possibility that such roles will be discovered, however. The non-replicative roles are important in considering the effects of deletion of the genes on the behavior of vectors. In particular, DBP has a number of functions not directly related to replication of Ad DNA that could affect gene therapy vector function.

6.1.Non-replicative functions of DBP

Perhaps the best characterized of the DBP activities not directly related to Ad DNA replication is its role in synthesis of Ad fiber. Fiber mRNA is encoded by the L5 region in the major late transcription unit and shares similarities in structure with other major late mRNAs. In particular, the 5' end of the mRNA consists of the tripartite leader, which facilitates translation late in infection after inactivation of the CAP binding protein. A fraction of the fiber mRNA differs from other mRNAs in that it also contains either the x- or y-leader. DBP localizes to both the nucleus and the cytoplasm. In the cytoplasm, DBP acts an RNA binding factor and facilitates translation of fiber mRNA (49-51). In monkey cells, translation of fiber mRNA is inefficient, but a specific mutation in the DBP coding sequence permits efficient translation and infectious virus formation (52, 53). This evidence suggests that DBP recruits a host factor that directs fiber mRNA translation.

DBP affects mRNA metabolism and transcription of certain adenovirus genes. DBP increases the rate of transcription of the major late transcription unit and decreases premature termination (54); acts as an autoregulator of its own production (55); alters the stability of certain mRNAs (56); and acts as a transcriptional activator of Ad genes during transient transfection (57). In addition to wild-type DBP, temperature-sensitive alleles of DBP exhibit altered behavior in RNA metabolism (58).

6.2. pTP function outside of priming replication

Non-replicative functions of pTP have not been studied in the detail to which DBP has, but pTP also has functions in addition to its role in priming Ad DNA replication. pTP (and TP) facilitate Ad gene transcription (59, 60), most likely through binding the Ad chromosome to the nuclear matrix (59-63). In addition, pTP expression has been reported to stabilize the Ad chromosome after transduction in vivo. Deletion of the pTP gene from a vector that encodes DNA pol and DBP led to instability of the chromosome after transduction of mouse liver (64). However, deletion of both the pTP and DNA pol genes did not lead to an increased rate of loss of the Ad vector chromosome after transduction in vivo (65). Helper-dependent vector chromosomes, which do not encode pTP, are maintained for extended periods of time, demonstrating that pTP expression is not generally required to maintain the vector chromosome in transduced cells. However, it remains a possibility that pTP prevents destabilization of the Ad chromosome in the presence of DNA pol expression.

Non-replicative functions of DBP, and to a lesser extent, pTP, raise the possibility that deletion of the DBP or pTP genes in Ad vectors may increase the safety of such vectors in that these deletions could lead to reduced expression of Ad genes and reduced effect of the vector on host cells relative to vectors encoding these genes.

7. CONSTRUCTION OF CELL LINES TO COMPLEMENT GROWTH OF AD VECTORS DELETED FOR E2 GENES

Production of replication-incompetent vectors derived by deletion of one or more of the genes essential for adenovirus DNA replication have generally relied on the construction of cell lines that express the gene(s) of interest and complement growth of the deletion mutant virus. Since vectors are also usually deleted for the E1 genes, the cell lines must also express the E1A and E1B proteins. The E2 gene products, especially DBP, were originally considered to be toxic to cells, suggesting that successful development of complementing cell lines would require the use of tightly regulated, inducible promoters (66). However, numerous cell lines that constitutively express the E2 proteins at levels sufficient to permit efficient complementation for growth of viruses deleted in the corresponding gene have been developed (67-69), suggesting that the original problems were due to difficulties in screening for cell lines that expressed sufficiently high levels of the protein of interest to permit efficient complementation.

7.1.Considerations for the development of cell lines that complement E2 deletion mutant vector growth

Deletion of any of the three E2 coding regions leads to complete absence of viral DNA replication. Since there is no difference in replication potential, considerations about which gene(s) to delete in the construction of an Ad vector can be guided by the roles of the different proteins. One consideration in the development of a cell line that complements an E2 deletion mutant and a virus deleted for the same E2 gene arises from the non-replicative roles of the proteins. As discussed above, deletion of the DBP gene and to a lesser extent, the pTP gene may lead to increased safety because of potential reductions in the level of expression of Ad proteins and in effects on the host cell. Because DBP is expressed at higher levels than the other E2 proteins, deletion of the DBP gene may also lead to reduced immune recognition after transduction in vivo.

A second consideration arises from the compact nature of the Ad chromosome. Genes are tightly spaced and regions of DNA can contain important information transcribed from both DNA strands or overlapping regions can encode different proteins using alternative translation frames. The segment of DNA encoding DNA pol has a particularly large number of overlapping sequences (70). The 5' end of the main region encoding DNA pol overlaps the 3' end of the pTP coding sequence. The 3' end of the DNA pol coding sequence overlaps the IVa2 coding sequence and the bidirectional major late promoter. The DNA pol coding sequence also overlaps two of the three exons that make up the tripartite leader present in all of the mRNAs encoded in the major late transcription unit and the i-leader present primarily on L1 mRNAs. The pTP coding sequence overlaps the third segment of the tripartite leader. In contrast, the DBP coding region does not overlap other functions. The presence of sequences that are important for other functions embedded in the coding regions for DNA pol and pTP mean that deletions of the genes must be carefully constructed to avoid deleterious effects of inadvertent deletion of functions necessary for efficient virus growth.

Homologous recombination between the host copy of the E2 gene and the deleted E2 allele in the virus can lead to regeneration of viruses encoding the wild-type

gene as is observed for the E1 genes (71). The presence of homologous sequences on both sides of the deletion facilitates recombination. The DNA pol main exon coding region has sequences at both the 5' and 3' ends that are required for expression of other genes, so simple deletions of the DNA pol gene alone require that the 5' and 3' ends of the gene be left intact, increasing the probability of recombination leading to reintroduction of the DNA pol gene into the vector. The 5' and 3' ends of the DBP gene do not overlap other required gene products, so it is relatively easy to construct complementing cell lines that do not have overlapping homologous sequence on either end of the gene. The main exon encoding pTP overlaps DNA pol at its 3' end, but there is no need to retain sequence at the 5' end, and it is relatively easy to develop cell lines that provide homologous sequence at only the 3' end of the pTP coding sequence. The frequency of recombination in pTP-expressing cell lines constructed using pTP coding sequence that overlaps at both the 5' and 3' ends the region deleted in a pTP-deletion mutant virus to reintroduce the pTP gene into the virus occurred at a relatively high frequency while the use of cell lines that express pTP from a construct that has overlapping homologous sequence at the 3' end only vielded an undetectable rate of recombination (Schaack et al., unpublished). The presence of a significant population of replication-completent virus in stocks grown in a cell line that permits recombination mediated by homologous sequence on both sides of the deleted sequence raises concerns that there may be significant selective advantages for viruses that regain the E2 genes relative to E2 deletion mutants even in the presence of complementing expression of the deleted gene.

7.2. Screening for cell lines that express E2 gene products

Cell lines that express E2 proteins are usually constructed by stable transfection with plasmids containing the cDNA encoding the gene of interest. To screen selected cell lines, western or immunofluorescent analyses using antibodies that recognize the protein of interest can be used. In addition, the presence of the transfected gene and its mRNA can be examined. These processes are time consuming and limit the number of cell lines that can be tested. An alternative method is to take advantage of the temperature-sensitive Ads with mutations in the genes of interest. Isolated cell lines are incubated at the non-permissive temperature, typically 39° C, after infection with the temperature-sensitive virus. If a cell line expresses the protein of interest and complements the virus for growth at the non-permissive temperature, cytopathic effect becomes apparent. The use of viruses to screen cell lines increases the number of cell lines that can be tested. Unfortunately, this method of screening is negative, as the best cell lines support growth of the virus that kills the cells, so it is not as rapid as positive screening protocols. Temperaturesensitive viruses with mutations in the gene of interest have been used in screening for cell lines that express DBP, pTP, or DNA pol (67, 69, 72, 73).

7.3. Efficiency of complementation

Expression of the E2 proteins during productive infection is tightly regulated with respect to both the timing

and the level of synthesis. It is difficult to mimic the control of E2 protein expression observed during infection with the wild-type virus. In the absence of appropriate regulation, complementing protein expression may not lead to virus yields as great as those from growth of the wild-type virus. DNA replication of a pTP deletion mutant virus was reduced relative to that of a wild-type control in cells that expressed high levels of pTP (46). Further, there was not a strong correlation between the level of pTP expression and the efficiency of complementation for growth of a pTP deletion mutant virus (46 and Schaack *et al.*, unpublished data). In contrast, growth of DBP deletion mutant viruses was more efficient in cell lines that directed higher-level expression of DBP (34, 69).

In addition to potential problems associated with the control of E2 protein expression, the substitution of a foreign gene for the Ad E1 genes can lead to decreased virus yields, an effect that may be more pronounced with second-generation than first-generation Ad vectors (Schaack *et al.*, unpublished).

8. COMPARISON OF AD FIRST- AND SECOND-GENERATION VECTORS AS GENE THERAPY AGENTS

8.1. Ad vectors defective in E2A

In 1994, Wilson and colleagues published the first in a series of studies demonstrating that use of an Ad vector containing the ts allele of DBP from Ad5ts125 led to reduced induction of inflammation and prolonged expression of the transgene encoded by the vector compared to a first-generation vector (74-76). The increased efficacy of the DBP mutant vector could arise from DBP functions other than those directly involved in DNA replication. However, it is reasonable to assume that the reduced ability of the ts DBP to promote Ad DNA replication is responsible. The improved function of a vector with reduced potential to replicate its DNA raised the possibility that second-generation vectors deleted for on or more of the genes essential for replication would improve prospects for use of Ad vectors. However, other studies employing a vector with the same ts DBP allele did not demonstrate improved function (77). In addition, the use of a vector deleted for the E2A gene did not lead to reduced inflammatory responses relative to a first-generation vector Interestingly, certain ts DBP mutants, including (78). Ad5ts125, exhibit altered behavior in transformation assays (79). Other DBP ts mutants exhibit altered behavior in RNA metabolism (58). Gain-of-function effects of the ts DBP alleles could explain the different behavior reported by Wilson and colleagues relative to results obtained with vectors deleted for E2A but do not explain the differences reported by Fang et al. (77). Differences in cells targeted (76), in transgene encoded, or in animal or strain used in testing may all play roles in the differences observed in the effectiveness of the vectors mutated in E2A.

8.2. Ad vectors deleted for E2B genes

Ad vectors have been deleted for the pTP gene (80), the DNA pol gene (47), and both the pTP and DNA pol genes (33). Comparison of the effectiveness of the E2B deletion mutant viruses has demonstrated improved function

relative to first-generation vectors in a variety of studies (80-83). In spite of the improved function of vectors deleted for E2B genes, strong inflammatory responses are still generated, in part due to adaptive immune responses to the foreign gene expressed at high levels (84). The use of a vector deleted for the DNA pol gene and encoding a transgene recognized as self led to improved function to a level similar to that of helperdependent vectors (83), raising the possibility that with proper design, second-generation vectors may be as effective as helper-dependent vectors.

Recently, it was demonstrated that a replicationcompetent Ad that did not encode a transgene induced a modest but statistically significantly greater innate inflammatory response than a virus isogenic except for deletion of the pTP gene (85), suggesting that Ad vector DNA replication contributes to induction of inflammation. The mechanism by which replication competence of Ad vectors leads to induction of inflammatory processes is not clear. There is little if any DNA replication by first-generation vectors after transduction in vivo (17), so it appears that, for vector DNA replication to contribute, inflammatory responses would have to be exquisitely sensitive to vector DNA replication. It remains possible that first-generation Ad vector DNA replication occurs in only a small fraction of the transduced cells. The resulting modest increase in Ad gene copy number and Ad gene expression could contribute to inflammatory processes. However, this possibility remains to be tested.

8.3. Inflammation induced by Ad vectors

Ad vectors, especially first-generation vectors, are highly inflammatory in spite of the evidence that natural Ad infections may not be very inflammatory (5, 6). All Ad vectors induce innate immune functions shortly after vector administration (86-90) that can lead to death of the host (91). Adaptive immune responses develop within days of administration to both capsid proteins (1) and the transgene product (84). First- and second-generation Ad vectors induce stronger and more rapid adaptive immune responses, but foreign transgenes encoded by thirdgeneration vectors also provoke adaptive immunity (92). Most comparisons of first-, second-, and third-generation Ad vector-induced inflammation have involved analyses beginning at least four days after transduction, at which time adaptive immune responses have begun. The presence of both innate and adaptive inflammatory responses complicates analyses of the nature of the responses.

Differences in innate responses induced by firstand second-generation Ad vectors are not well understood. In analyzing the increased potential of Ad secondgeneration vectors relative to first-generation vectors, it will be important to understand the roles each generation of vector plays in induction of both innate and adaptive immune responses.

9. USE OF AD VECTORS

9.1. Ad vectors for gene therapy

Ad vectors are in use in clinical trials both as corrective agents for gene replacement and as anti-tumor

agents (reviewed in 93). First-generation Ad vectors were the dominant type of Ad vectors used in trials of gene replacement therapy, with a limited number of trials involving the use of vectors with E4 deletions or the use of a vector carrying a ts E2A allele, but no trials utilized an Ad vector deleted for one of the E2 genes (http://www4.od.nih.gov/oba/rac/clinicaltrial.htm). The fact that human gene therapy trials employing Ad vectors were dominated by first-generation vectors in spite of the potential superiority of second-generation vectors may reflect the pressure to apply, rather than develop, gene therapy vectors. Since the death of a patient in trial using an Ad vector deleted for E1, E3, and E4 (94), enthusiasm for Ad vectors other than helper-dependent vectors for gene replacement therapy has declined dramatically.

9.2. Use of Ad transducing vectors for expression studies

The primary use of Ad vectors is in the transduction of cells in culture, where virtually all vectors in use are first-generation. Transduction with firstgeneration vectors used leads to the expression of the E2 genes and potentially to vector DNA replication (15, 16). In addition, the E4 proteins are expressed and affect a variety of cellular functions, including inhibition of p53 activity (95), regulating the activity of protein phosphatase 2A (96, 97), and altering the binding and activity of the transcription factor E2F (98-100). However, the effects of the Ad proteins have not presented severe limitations to the use of first-generation Ad vectors in vitro. In contrast, the effective use of first-generation Ad vectors to deliver a gene in vivo, typically to mice, is significantly limited by the inflammatory response induced and the resultant reduced duration of transgene expression. Secondgeneration Ad vectors offer potential improvement of function for such studies in vivo.

10. SUMMARY

Second-generation Ad vectors show greater potential as gene therapy agents in at least some circumstances than do the much more commonly used firstgeneration vectors. Recent efforts to understand the contributions of Ad early region proteins to the induction and inhibition of innate inflammatory responses (85) raise the possibility that second-generation vectors can be modified to make them as effective as helper-dependent vectors for use as gene therapy agents. The relative ease with which they can be produced offers a significant advantage and support for continuing efforts to understand and develop effective second-generation Ad vectors.

11. REFERENCES

1. T. A. Smith, M. G. Mehaffey, D. B. Kayda, J. M. Saunders, S. Yei, B. C. Trapnell, A. McClelland & M. Kaleko: Adenovirus mediated expression of therapeutic plasma levels of human factor IX in mice. *Nat. Genet.* 5, 397-402 (1993)

2. J. Herz & R. D. Gerard: Adenovirus-mediated transfer of low density lipoprotein receptor gene acutely accelerates

cholesterol clearance in normal mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 90, 2812-2816 (1993)

3. Y. Yang, F. A. Nunes, K. Berencsi, E. E. Furth, E. Gonczol & J. M. Wilson: Cellular immunity to viral antigens limits E1-deleted adenoviruses for gene therapy. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* (1994)

4. Y. Yang, Q. Li, E. H.C. & J. M. Wilson: Cellular and humoral immune responses to viral antigens create barriers to lung-directed gene therapy with recombinant adenoviruses. *J. Virol.* 69, 2004-2015 (1995)

5. S. E. Straus. Adenovirus infections in humans. In: Ginsberg HS, ed. The Adenoviruses. New York: Plenum, pp. 451-496 (1984)

6. D. L. Lichtenstein & W. S. Wold: Experimental infections of humans with wild-type adenoviruses and with replication-competent adenovirus vectors: replication, safety, and transmission. *Cancer Gene Ther.* published on line Sept. 10, 1-11 (2004)

7. K. Seidemann, A. Heim, E. D. Pfister, H. Koditz, A. Beilken, A. Sander, M. Melter, K. W. Sykora, M. Sasse & A. Wessel: Monitoring of Adenovirus Infection in Pediatric Transplant Recipients by Quantitative PCR: Report of Six Cases and Review of the Literature. *Am. J. Transplant.* 4, 2102-2108 (2004)

8. T. Kojaoghlanian, P. Flomenberg & M. S. Horwitz: The impact of adenovirus infection on the immunocompromised host. *Rev. Med. Virol.* 13, 155-171 (2003)

9. E. B. Haura, M. A. Winden, A. D. Proia & J. E. Trotter: Fulminant hepatic failure due to disseminated adenovirus infection in a patient with chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Cancer Control.* 9, 248-253 (2002)

10. A. Baldwin, H. Kingman, M. Darville, A. B. Foot, D. Grier, J. M. Cornish, N. Goulden, A. Oakhill, D. H. Pamphilon, C. G. Steward & D. I. Marks: Outcome and clinical course of 100 patients with adenovirus infection following bone marrow transplantation. *Bone Marrow Transplant.* 26, 1333-1338 (2000)

11. J. Flint & T. Shenk: Viral transactivating proteins. Ann. Rev. Genet. 31, 177-212 (1997)

12. T. Shenk & J. Flint: Transcriptional and transforming activities of the adenovirus E1A proteins. Advances Can. Res. 57, 47-85 (1991)

13. S. M. Frisch & J. S. Mymryk: Adenovirus-5 E1A: paradox and paradigm. Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol. 3, 441-452 (2002)

14. T. Shenk, N. Jones, W. Colby & D. Fowlkes: Functional analysis of adenovirus type 5 host range deletion mutants defective for transformation of rat embryo cells. Cold Spring Harbor Symp. Quant. Biol. 44, 367-375 (1979)

15. N. Mittereder, S. Yei, C. Bachurski, J. Cuppoletti, J. A. Whitsett, P. Tolstoshev & B. C. Trapnell: Evaluation of the efficacy and safety of in vitro, adenovirus-mediated transfer of the human cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator cDNA. Hum. Gene Ther. 5, 717-729 (1994)

16. U. Marienfeld, A. Haack, P. Thalheimer, S. Schneider-Rasp, H. H. Brackmann & W. Poller: 'Autoreplication' of the vector genome in recombinant adenoviral vectors with different E1 region deletions and transgenes. Gene Ther. 6, 1101-1113. (1999)

17. J. E. Nelson & M. A. Kay: Persistence of recombinant adenovirus *in vivo* is not dependent on vector DNA replication. *J. Virol.* 71, 8902-8907 (1997)

18. D. L. Lichtenstein, K. Toth, K. Doronin, A. E. Tollefson & W. S. Wold: Functions and mechanisms of action of the adenovirus E3 proteins. *Int. Rev. Immunol.* 23, 75-111 (2004)

19. S. P. Fessler, F. Delgado-Lopez & M. S. Horwitz: Mechanisms of E3 modulation of immune and inflammatory responses. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 273, 113-135 (2004)

20. M. Windheim, A. Hilgendorf & H. G. Burgert: Immune evasion by adenovirus E3 proteins: exploitation of intracellular trafficking pathways. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 273, 29-85 (2004)

21. Y. Ilan, G. Droguett, N. R. Chowdhury, Y. Li, K. Sengupta, N. R. Thummala, A. Davidson, J. R. Chowdhury & M. S. Horwitz: Insertion of the adenoviral E3 region into a recombinant viral vector prevents antiviral humoral and cellular immune responses and permits long-term gene expression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94, 2587-2592 (1997)

22. K. S. Harrod, T. W. Hermiston, B. C. Trapnell, W. S. Wold & J. A. Whitsett: Lung-specific expression of adenovirus E3-14.7K in transgenic mice attenuates adenoviral vector-mediated lung inflammation and enhances transgene expression. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 9, 1885-1898 (1998)

23. S. Wen, M. Driscoll. R, D. B. Schneider & D. A. Dichek: Inclusion of the E3 region in an adenoviral vector decreases inflammation and neointima formation after arterial gene transfer. *Arterioscler. Thromb. Vasc. Biol.* 21, 1777-1782 (2001)

24. D. B. Schowalter, J. C. Tubb, M. Liu, C. B. Wilson & M. A. Kay: Heterologous expression of adenovirus E3-gp19K in an E1a-deleted adenovirus vector inhibits MHC I expression *in vitro*, but does not prolong transgene expression *in vivo*. *Gene Ther.* 4, 351-360 (1997)

25. M. Gantzer, E. Spitz, N. Accard & R. Rooke: Constitutive expression of the adenovirus E3-14.7K protein does not prolong adenovirus vector DNA persistence but protects mice against lipopolysaccharide-induced acute hepatitis. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 13, 921-933 (2002)

26. F. L. Graham, J. Smiley, W. C. Russell & R. Nairn: Characteristics of a human cell line transformed by DNA from human adenovirus type 5. *J. Gen. Virol.* 36, 59-72 (1977)

27. G. Ketner, F. Spencer, S. Tugendreich, C. Connelly & P. Hieter: Efficient manipulation of the human adenovirus genome as infectious yeast artificial chromosome clone. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91, 6186-6190 (1994)

28. C. Chartier, E. Degryse, M. Gantzer, A. Dieterle, A. Pavirani & M. Mehtali: Efficient generation of recombinant adenovirus vectors by homologous recombination in Escherichia coli. *J. Virol.* 70, 4805-4810 (1996)

29. T. C. He, S. Zhou, L. T. da Costa, J. Yu, K. W. Kinzler & B. Vogelstein: A simplified system for generating recombinant adenoviruses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95, 2509-2514 (1998)

30. H. Mizuguchi & M. A. Kay: Efficient construction of a recombinant adenovirus vector by an improved *in vitro* ligation method. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 20, 2577-2583 (1998)

31. K. J. Fisher, H. Choi, J. Burda, S. J. Chen & J. M. Wilson: Recombinant adenovirus deleted of all viral genes

for gene therapy of cystic fibrosis. Virology 217, 11-22 (1996)

32. R. J. Parks, L. Chen, M. Anton, U. Sankar, M. A. Rudnicki & F. L. Graham: A helper-dependent adenovirus vector system: removal of helper virus by Cre-mediated excision of the viral packaging signal. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93, 13565-13570 (1996)

33. D. Hartigan-O'Connor, A. Amalfitano & J. S. Chamberlain: Improved production of gutted adenovirus in cells expressing adenovirus preterminal protein and DNA polymerase. *J. Virol.* 73, 7835-41 (1999)

34. H. Zhou & A. L. Beaudet: A new vector system with inducible E2a cell line for production of higher titer and safer adenoviral vectors. *Virology* 275, 348-357 (2000)

35. D. A. Muruve, M. J. Cotter, A. K. Zaiss, L. R. White, Q. Liu, T. Chan, S. A. Clark, P. J. Ross, R. A. Meulenbroek, G. M. Maelandsmo & R. J. Parks: Helperdependent adenovirus vectors elicit intact innate but attenuated adaptive host immune responses *in vivo*. J. *Virol*. 78, 5966-5972 (2004)

36. N. Brunetti-Pierri, D. J. Palmer, A. L. Beaudet, K. D. Carey, M. Finegold & P. Ng: Acute toxicity after high-dose systemic injection of helper-dependent adenoviral vectors into nonhuman primates. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 15, 35-46 (2004)

37. H. Liu, J. H. Naismith & R. T. Hay: Adenovirus DNA replication. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 272, 131-164 (2003)

38. R. N. de Jong, P. C. van der Vliet & A. B. Brenkman: Adenovirus DNA replication: protein priming, jumping back and the role of the DNA binding protein DBP. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 272, 187-211 (2003)

39. M. J. Ensinger & H. S. Ginsberg: Selection and preliminary characterization of temperature-sensitive mutants of type 5 adenovirus. *J. Virol.* 10, 328-339 (1972)

40. S. E. Straus, H. S. Ginsberg & J. A. Rose: DNA-minus temperature-sensitive mutants of adenovirus type 5 help adenovirus-associated virus replication. *J. Virol.* 17, 140-148 (1975)

41. P. I. Freimuth & H. S. Ginsberg: Codon insertion mutants of the adenovirus terminal protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83, 7816-7820 (1986)

42. D. J. Roovers, F. M. van der Lee, J. van der Wees & J. S. Sussenbach: Analysis of the adenovirus type 5 terminal protein precursor and DNA polymerase by linker insertion mutagenesis. *J. Virol.* 67, 265-276 (1993)

43. D. J. Roovers, P. F. Overman, X. Q. Chen & J. S. Sussenbach: Linker mutation scanning of the genes encoding the adenovirus type 5 terminal protein precursor and DNA polymerase. *Virology* 180, 273-284 (1991)

44. J. Schaack, W. Y.-W. Ho, S. Tolman, E. Ullyat, X. Guo, N. Frank, P. I. Freimuth, J. Roovers & J. Sussenbach: Construction and preliminary characterization of a library of "lethal" preterminal protein mutant adenoviruses. *J. Virol.* 73, 9599-9603 (1999)

45. S. A. Rice & D. F. Klessig: Isolation and analysis of adenovirus type 5 mutants containing deletions in the gene encoding the DNA-binding protein. *J. Virol.* 56, 767-778 (1985)

46. J. Schaack, X. Guo & S. Langer: Characterization of a replication-incompetent adenovirus type 5 mutant deleted

for the preterminal protein gene. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 14686-14691 (1996)

47. A. Amalfitano, M. A. Hauser, H. Hu, D. Serra, C. R. Begy & J. S. Chamberlain: Production and characterization of improved adenovirus vectors with the E1, E2b, and E3 genes deleted. *J. Virol.* 72, 926-933 (1998)

48. M. I. Gorziglia, M. J. Kadan, S. Yei, J. Lim, G. M. Lee, R. Luthra & B. C. Trapnell: Elimination of both E1 and E2a from adenovirus vectors further improves prospects for *in vivo* human gene therapy. *J. Virol.* 70, 4173-4178 (1996)

49. S. A. Adam & G. Dreyfuss: Adenovirus proteins associated with mRNA and hnRNA in infected HeLa cells. *J. Virol.* 61, 3276-3283 (1987)

50. V. G. Cleghon & D. F. Klessig: Association of the adenovirus DNA-binding protein with RNA both *in vitro* and *in vivo. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 83, 8947-8951 (1986)

51. L. Silverman & D. F. Klessig: Characterization of the translational defect to fiber synthesis in monkey cells abortively infected with human adenovirus: role of ancillary leaders. *J. Virol.* 63, 4376-4385 (1989)

52. C. W. Anderson: Spontaneous mutants of the adenovirus-simian virus 40 hybrid, Ad2+ND3, that grow efficiently in monkey cells. *Virology* 111, 263-269 (1981)

53. C. W. Anderson, M. M. Hardy, J. J. Dunn & D. F. Klessig: Independent, spontaneous mutants of adenovirus type 2-simian virus 40 hybrid Ad2+ND3 that grow efficiently in monkey cells possess indentical mutations in the adenovirus type 2 DNA-binding protein gene. *J. Virol.* 48, 31-39 (1983)

54. J. M. Johnston, K. P. Anderson & D. F. Klessig: Partial block to transcription of human adenovirus type 2 late genes in abortively infected monkey cells. J. Virol. 56, 378-385 (1985)

55. J. C. Nicolas, D. Ingrand, P. Sarnow & A. J. Levine: A mutation in the adenovirus type 5 DNA binding protein that fails to autoregulate the production of the DNA binding protein. Virology 122, 481-485 (1982)

56. A. Babich & J. R. Nevins: The stability of early adenovirus mRNA is controlled by the viral 72 kd DNA-binding protein. Cell 26, 371-379 (1981)

57. L.-S. Chang & T. Shenk: The adenovirus DNA-binding protein stimulates the rate of transcription directed by adenovirus and adeno-associated virus promoters. J. Virol. 64, 2103-2109 (1990)

58. G. R. Kitchingman: Mutations in the adenovirus-encoded single-stranded DNA binding protein that result in altered accumulation of early and late viral RNAs. Virology 212, 91-101 (1995)

59. J. Schaack & T. Shenk: Adenovirus terminal protein mediates efficient and timely activation of viral transcription. Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol. 144, 185-190 (1989)

60. J. Schaack, W. Y.-W. Ho, P. Freimuth & T. Shenk: Adenovirus terminal protein mediates both nuclear matrix association and efficient transcription of adenovirus DNA. Genes Dev. 4, 1197-1208 (1990)

61. H. B. Younghusband & K. Maundrell: Adenovirus DNA is associated with the nuclear matrix of infected cells. J. Virol. 43, 705-713 (1982)

62. H. C. Smith, R. Berezney, J. M. Brewster & D. Rekosh: Properties of adenoviral DNA bound to the nuclear matrix. *Biochem.* 24, 1197-1202 (1985)

63. J. N. Fredman & J. A. Engler: Adenovirus precursor to terminal protein interacts with the nuclear matrix *in vivo* and *in vitro*. J. Virol. 67, 3384-3395 (1993)

64. A. Lieber, C. Y. He & M. A. Kay: Adenoviral preterminal protein stabilizes mini-adenoviral genomes *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 15, 1383-1387 (1997)

65. B. L. Hodges, D. Serra, H. Hu, C. A. Begy, J. S. Chamberlain & A. J. Amalfitano: Multiply deleted (E1, polymerase-, and pTP-) adenovirus vector persists despite deletion of the preterminal protein. *J. Gene. Med.* 2, 250-259 (2000)

66. D. F. Klessig, D. E. Brough & V. Cleghon: Introduction, stable integration, and controlled expression of a chimeric adenovirus gene whose product is toxic to the recipient human cell. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 4, 1354-1362 (1984)

67. J. Schaack, X. Guo, W. Y.-W. Ho, M. Karlok, C.-Y. Chen & D. Ornelles: Adenovirus type 5 precursor terminal protein-expressing 293 and HeLa cell lines. *J. Virol.* 69, 4079-4085 (1995)

68. A. Amalfitano & J. S. Chamberlain: Isolation and characterization of packaging cell lines that coexpress the adenovirus E1, DNA polymerase, and preterminal proteins: implications for gene therapy. *Gene Ther.* 4, 258-63 (1997) 69. H. Zhou, W. O'Neal, N. Morral & A. Beaudet: Development of a complementing cell lines and a system for construction of adenovirus vectors with E1 and E2A deleted. *J. Virol.* 70, 7030-7038 (1996)

70. T. R. Broker, C. Keller & R. J. Roberts. Human adenovirus serotypes 2, 4, 8, 40, and 41 and adenovirus-simian virus 40 hybrids. In: O'Brien SJ, ed. Genetic Maps 1984. Cold Spring Harbor, New York: Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory, 1984:99

71. H. Löchmuller, A. Jani, J. Huard, S. Prescott, M. Simoneau, B. Massie, G. Karpati & G. Acsadi: Emergence of early region 1-containing replication-competent adenovirus in stocks of replication-defective adenovirus recombinants (delta E1 + delta E3) during multiple passages in 293 cells. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 5, 1485-1491 (1994)

72. A. Amalfitano, C. R. Begy & J. S. Chamberlain: Improved adenovirus packaging cell lines to support the growth of replication-defective gene-delivery vectors. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 3352-6 (1996)

73. A. Amalfitano & J. S. Chamberlain: Isolation and characterization of packaging cell lines that coexpress the adenovirus E1, DNA polymerase, and preterminal proteins: implications for gene therapy. Gene Ther. 4, 258-263 (1997)

74. J. F. Engelhardt, X. Ye, B. Doranz & J. M. Wilson: Ablation of E2A in recombinant adenoviruses improves transgene persistence and decreases inflammatory response in mouse liver. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91, 6196-6200 (1994) 75. Y. Yang, F. A. Nunes, K. Berencsi, E. Gonczol, J. F. Engelhardt & J. M. Wilson: Inactivation of E2a in recombinant adenoviruses improves the prospect for gene therapy in cystic fibrosis. Nat. Genet. 7, 362-369 (1994)

76. J. F. Engelhardt, L. Litzky & J. M. Wilson: Prolonged transgene expression in cotton rat lung with recombinant adenoviruses defective in E2a. Hum. Gene Therapy 5, 1217-1229 (1994)

77. B. Fang, H. Wang, G. Gordon, D. A. Bellinger, M. S. Read, K. M. Brinkhous, S. L. Woo & R. C. Eisensmith: Lack of persistence of E1- recombinant adenoviral vectors

containing a temperature-sensitive E2A mutation in immunocompetent mice and hemophilia B dogs. *Gene Ther.* 3, 217-222 (1996)

78. N. Morral, W. O'Neal, H. Zhou, C. Langston & A. Beaudet: Immune responses to reporter proteins and high viral dose limit duration of expression with adenoviral vectors: comparison of E2a wild type and E2a deleted vectors. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 8, 1275-1286 (1997)

79. S. A. Rice, D. F. Klessig & J. Williams: Multiple effects of the 72-kDa, adenovirus-specified DNA binding protein on the efficiency of cellular transformation. *Virology* 156, 366-376 (1987)

80. J. W. Moorhead, G. H. Clayton, R. L. Smith & J. Schaack: An adenovirus vector deleted for the preterminal protein gene elicits reduced inflammation in mouse ears. *J. Virol.* 73, 1046-1053 (1999)

81. A. Amalfitano, A. J. McVie-Wylie, H. Hu, T. L. Dawson, N. Raben, P. Plotz & Y. T. Chen: Systemic correction of the muscle disorder glycogen storagedisease type II after hepatic targeting of a modified adenovirus vector encoding human acid-alpha-glucosidase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 96, 8861-8866 (1999)

82. H. Hu, D. Serra & A. Amalfitano: Persistence of an E1-, polymerase- adenovirus vector despite transduction of a neoantigen into immune-competent mice. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 10, 355-64 (1999)

83. R. S. Everett, B. L. Hodges, E. Y. Ding, F. Xu, D. Serra & A. Amalfitano: Liver toxicities typically induced by first-generation adenoviral vectors can be reduced by use of E1, E2b-deleted adenoviral vectors. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 14, 1715-1726 (2003)

84. Y. Yang, K. U. Jooss, Q. Su, H. C. Ertl & J. M. Wilson: Immune responses to viral antigens versus transgene product in the elimination of recombinant adenovirus-infected hepatocytes *in vivo. Gene Ther.* 3, 137-144 (1996)

85. J. Schaack, M. L. Bennett, J. Colbert, A. Vazques Torres, G. H. Clayton, D. Ornelles & J. Moorhead: E1A and E1B Proteins Inhibit Inflammation Induced by Adenovirus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 101, 3124-3129 (2004)

86. N. Reich, R. Pine, D. Levy & J. E. Darnell, Jr.: Transcription of interferon-stimulated genes is induced by adenovirus particles but is suppressed by E1A gene products. *J. Virol.* 62, 114-119 (1988)

87. D. A. Muruve, M. J. Barnes, I. E. Stillman & T. A. Libermann: Adenoviral gene therapy leads to rapid induction of multiple chemokines and acute neutrophil-dependent hepatic injury *in vivo. Hum. Gene Ther.* 10, 965-976 (1999)

88. Y. Zhang, N. Chirmule, G. P. Gao, R. Qian, M. Croyle, B. Joshi, J. Tazelaar & J. M. Wilson: Acute cytokine response to systemic adenoviral vectors in mice is mediated by dendritic cells and macrophages. Mol. Ther. 3, 697-707 (2001)

89. M. A. Schnell, Y. Zhang, J. Tazelaar, G. P. Gao, Q. C. Yu, R. Qian, S. J. Chen, A. N. Varnavski, C. LeClair, S. E. Raper & J. M. Wilson: Activation of innate immunity in nonhuman primates following intraportal administration of adenoviral vectors. Mol. Ther. 3, 708-722 (2001)

90. Q. Liu & D. A. Muruve: Molecular basis of the inflammatory response to adenovirus vectors. *Gene Ther.* 10, 935-940 (2003)

91. G. Schiedner, W. Bloch, S. Hertel, M. Johnston, A. Molojavyi, V. Dries, G. Varga, N. van Rooijen & S. Kochanek: A Hemodynamic Response to Intravenous Adenovirus Vector Particles Is Caused by Systemic Kupffer Cell-Mediated Activation of Endothelial Cells. *Hum. Gene Ther.* 14, 1631-1641 (2003)

92. M. A. Morsy, M. Gu, S. Motzel, J. Zhao, J. Lin, Q. Su, H. Allen, L. Franlin, R. J. Parks, F. L. Graham, S. Kochanek, A. J. Bett & C. T. Caskey: An adenoviral vector deleted for all viral coding sequences results in enhanced safety and extended expression of a leptin transgene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95, 7866-7871 (1998)

93. J. A. St George: Gene therapy progress and prospects: adenoviral vectors. *Gene Ther.* 10, 1135-1141 (2003)

94. S. E. Raper, N. Chirmule, F. S. Lee, N. A. Wivel, A. Bagg, G. P. Gao, J. M. Wilson & M. L. Batshaw: Fatal systemic inflammatory response syndrome in a ornithine transcarbamylase deficient patient following adenoviral gene transfer. *Mol. Genet. Metab.* 80, 148-158 (2003)

95. T. Dobner, N. Horikoshi, S. Rubenwolf & T. Shenk: Blockage by adenovirus E4orf6 of transcriptional activation by the p53 tumor suppressor. *Science* 272, 1470-1473 (1996)

96. R. C. Marcellus, H. Chan, D. Paquette, S. Thirlwell, D. Boivin & P. E. Branton: Induction of p53-independent apoptosis by the adenovirus E4orf4 protein requires binding to the Balpha subunit of protein phosphatase 2A. *J. Virol.* 74, 7869-7877 (2000)

97. C. Estmer, Nilsson, S. Petersen-Mahrt, C. Durot, R. Shtrichman, A. R. Krainer, T. Kleinberger & G. Akusjarvi: The adenovirus E4-ORF4 splicing enhancer protein interacts with a subset of phosphorylated SR proteins. *EMBO J.* 20, 864-871 (2001)

98. S. Hardy, D. A. Engel & T. Shenk: An adenovirus early region 4 gene product is required for induction of the infection-specific form of cellular E2F activity. *Genes Dev.* 3, 1062-1074 (1989)

99. M. M. Huang & P. Hearing: The adenovirus early region 4 open reading frame 6/7 protein regulates the DNA binding activity of the cellular transcription factor, E2F, through a direct complex. *Genes Dev.* 3, 1699-1710 (1989) 100. R. Reichel, S. D. Neill, I. Kovesdi, M. C. Simon, P. Raychaudhuri & J. R. Nevins: The adenovirus E4 gene, in addition to the E1A gene, is important for trans-activation of E2 transcription and for E2F activation. *J. Virol.* 63, 3643-3650 (1989)

Key Words: Virus, Adenovirus, DNA replication, DNA binding protein, preterminal protein, DNA polymerase, inflammation, Gene therapy, Review

Send correspondence to: Dr Jerome Schaack, University of Colorado Health Sciences Center at Fitzsimons, Microbiology Dept., Mail Stop 8333 P.O. Box 6511, Aurora, CO 80045, Tel: 303 724-4220, Fax: 303 724-4226, E-mail: jerry.schaack@uchsc.edu

http://www.bioscience.org/current/vol10.htm